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EDITORIAL  

I . Welcome to this Bulletin 

Welcome to Leckhampton Local History Societyôs first collection of research articles. In its 

quarterly newsletter, Smoke Signal, there is room only for short articles and notes. Here our 

contributors have had the opportunity to develop their theme at greater length, accompanied by 

illustrations in a larger format.  

 óLeckhampton in a Nutshellô sets the scene. It is a ópotted historyô listing all that is significant 

or unique about the village and I hope it also demonstrates why Leckhamptonôs past is worth 

investigating and chronicling, as a means of establishing a ósense of placeô. 

 There follows an article on the pleasure grounds at Liddington Lake, which for a quarter of a 

century delighted crowds from miles around. Barely a trace or memory of it remains, and John 

Milner has performed an important service in unearthing the evidence. Many townspeople will 

know him as a popular lecturer on the history of Cheltenham and its surroundings. He is also a 

supportive member of the Society, and we are pleased to print one of his rare articles, written at 

our special invitation. At the Societyôs recommendation, backed by the two other similar societies 

in the area, John has been chosen to receive this yearôs Cheltenham Arts Council Award for his 

work in the historical field. 

 Other forms of amusement were taking over as the Twentieth Century progressed. Alan Gillôs 

account of the early days of flying deals with rough and ready forerunners of todayôs air tattoos, 

which just before the First World War drew crowds of spectators to Leckhamptonôs open spaces. 

 To complete the picture, two complementary articles are concerned with Leckhamptonôs 

physical layout, from the pattern of its medieval fields to its present-day system of roads. The 
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ownership and use of the land are comprehensively described by Terry Moore-Scott and some of 

the historical names of the fields and their owners find echoes in Amy Woolacottôs study of the 

evolution of Leckhamptonôs street names. At the end are three short items which investigate 

some local myths: correcting false impressions of the past can be as important as presenting new 

infomation. 

 Leckhamptonôs highways and byways may now be no more than an extension of 

Cheltenhamôs, and its remaining fields may be under threat from developers, but there is still an 

air of individuality about the village, which this bulletin aims to portray. We hope that it has 

succeeded and that enough interest will be shown to justify the compilation of a second such 

bulletin in due course. (To whet your appetites, articles are planned on the Leckhampton Golf 

Club and on Leckhamptonôs brickworks and potteries.) 

II. Chronicling Leckhamptonôs History 

Leckhampton has been well served by past and present historians. The local worthy Robert Cary 

Barnard set a fine example in 1897 with his Records of Leckhampton. It chronicles the evolution 

of the village from the Domesday onwards, and gives a particularly detailed description of the 

parish records. A Souvenir of Leckhampton Court, edited by Sydney Harrison in 1919, paints an 

intimate picture of the Red Cross Hospital which was housed there during the First World War. 

Both books are rare, but second-hand copies may occasionally be found. 

 More recently, the Leckhampton Womenôs Instituteôs Leckhampton - the Story Of Our Village 

Within Living Memory, 1850 - 1957, produced for private circulation, is a valuable source of local 

tradition. David Bickôs Old Leckhampton describes the rise and fall of the Leckhampton Quarries 

and the associated tramways and also gives an excellent summary of the disputes over access to 

the hill. In Leckhampton through the Ages, Eve Andrew and Canon Eric Brewin give a concise 

yet comprehensive survey of the evolution of the village from prehistoric times to the present 

day, with chapters on the church and court and the families of the lords of the manor. Your 

editorôs History of Leckhampton Church covers the building, furnishings, stained glass, the bells, 

the organ, memorials, parish records, and much more besides.  

 The Local History Societyôs first publication, 1894 - the End of an Era (now out of print), 

describes the sale of Leckhampton Court and its lands in that year and presents a portrait of the 

village as it was then. It was edited by the late Bruce Stait, who first proposed the formation of 

the Local History Society. Your editorôs second book, Leckhampton Yesteryear, based on 

information taken from parish magazines, describes aspects of village life from the turn of the 

century to the beginning of the Second World War: entertainments and the growth of local 

societies, the building of the parish hall and the new school, celebrations of peace and war, and 

much additional information on church activities. 

 Most recently, in 1998, the Society brought out Leckhampton in the Second World War, based 

in large part on the recollection of numerous present and previous inhabitants, but also using 

important and hitherto unpublished documentary material and some 50 rare photographs. The 

chapters on the air raids over Leckhampton and on the POW camp have attracted particular 

attention, but the descriptions of aspects of everyday life have a general appeal: civil defence and 

the Home Guard, air raid precautions, fire-watching and the blackout, the arrival of evacuees, the 

effects of rationing, the response of schools and churches, and attempts to maintain some kind of 

social life. 

 The Society has collected some 400 historic photographs of the area, as well as a number of 

prints and engravings, and its next venture is planned to be the publication of a selection of these, 

with appropriate commentary. If any reader feels able to fill a possible gap, please get in touch 

with Alan Gill (tel 519248). 
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LECKHAMPTON IN A NUTSHELL  

By Eric Miller 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

What is it about Leckhampton that makes it more than just an extension of Cheltenham? For a 

start, the Anglo-Saxon name and its listing in the Domesday Book establish the settlementôs 

identity. Today the following are visible characteristics of a village which for most for its 

existence has been not only physically separate from Cheltenham but also independent in 

outlook:  

St Peterôs church    St Philip & St Jamesôs church 

Leckhampton Court  the remains of the Moat  

a few thatched cottages  some stone-built farm houses 

Leckhampton Hill    the Devilôs Chimney and quarry workings 

the Village Hall    the war memorial 

the Parish Reading Room   the Delancey Hospital 

the óhorseôs graveô   Tower Lodge 

In addition, there are some places that have disappeared completely: 

the parish pound   the mineral tramroad 

the passenger trams  the railway and the station 

the Pilford brickworks   the pottery in Charlton Lane 

the caravan factories   the village well  

the drinking fountain  the Ladiesô College Sanatorium  

Liddington Lake Pleasure Ground 

Most of these will be dealt with in the following paragraphs, while some are covered in the other 

articles. 

 The name Leckhampton was first recorded in the 9th century, when the settlement was the 

home farm for the royal manor of Cheltenham. The word is now generally considered to mean 

óhomestead where leeks (ie any kind of vegetable) are grownô. Indeed, market gardening still 

thrives on the fine alluvial soil of the valley, while traces of earlier ploughing can still be made 

out in the ridge and furrow patterns on the lower slopes of the hill, now used for grazing. 

 The medieval village was close to both court and church. That earlier layout is indicated by a 

row of 17th-century thatched cottages - óMoat Cottage,ô óField Cottageô and óSheeps Head Rowô. 

These probably follow the line of an old track and lie at right angles to Collum Street (now 

Church Road), where there are or were a few other timber-framed cottages, including the so-

called óCromwell Cottageô, demolished in 1962.  

 The historic parish, both civil and ecclesiastical, was comparatively large and (as shown on the 

map overleaf) extended from the prehistoric camp on the hill top down as far as Warden Hill - not 

the same as todayôs electoral division or the postal district. It was sparsely inhabited until early in 

the 19th century and its land was largely devoted to agricultural use. Such industry as existed 

occurred on the periphery, and some artisan dwellings near the top of Old Bath Road and in 

Pilley housed quarrymen and brickmakers. In general it was not until the mid- to late 19th 

century that new housing began to spread up the hill from the Norwood Arms, in addition to a 

few scattered villas occupied by the gentry. 

In the Domesday Survey of 1086 two manorial estates (at least) were listed under the heading of 

Leckhampton. One was probably centred on an island surrounded by a moat. Some of the latter is 

still recognisable, though much overgrown with trees, beside the rectory; older 
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inhabitants recall being able to skate on its frozen surface! When the moat was excavated in 

1933, traces of a stone building were uncovered, with access by a bridge and a fortified gateway 

dating from probably the 14th century. Some 16th-century floor tiles were also found. Later the 

building evidently fell into disuse, and an 18th-century map shows trees growing on the site. A 

new manor house was built behind the present rectory, serving as a farmhouse until early in the 

19th century. This was eventually demolished, some clumps of nettles betraying its former 

location until these were ploughed over in the 1980s. The moat itself may have much older 

origins and is comparable to numerous other sites to be found at the foot of the Cotswold 

escarpment. 

 

 

 

Leckhampton Moat, by E J Burrow, 1916 

 

 The other manor, whose administrative centre will have been on the site of Leckhampton 

Court, was more powerful, and in due course absorbed the first-mentioned estate. The Court 

itself, one of the oldest non-religious buildings in the county, was saved from dereliction 20 years 

ago and very sympathetically restored by the Sue Ryder Foundation. The oldest part, the 14th-

century banqueting hall on the east side, has now been converted into a chapel. The south wing, 

with its half-timbering, is Tudor - the date ó1582ô is carved over a doorway - as is the section at 

the end of the north wing, with its twisted brick chimneys. In 1732 a fire destroyed the central 

part of north wing, which at first was partly filled in by a 3-storey Georgian house (see 

illustrations overleaf). This was demolished at the end of the 19th century and replaced by the 

north wing, whose óTudorbethanô facade is what passers-by now see from Church Road. 

 From the early 14th century onwards the title to the manor of Leckhampton was held for 

nearly 600 years by a succession of three interrelated families: the Giffards, Norwoods, and 

Tryes. All produced men of distinction as well as benefactors to the local community. Sir John 

Giffard, d. 1330, was the first builder of the Court - and of the church, where he and his wife are 

commemorated by carved effigies. When Eleanor Giffard married John Norwood in 1486 the 

tenure passed to the Norwoods. The 16th-century William Norwood (whose portrait hangs in 

Cheltenham Art Gallery) was probably the most distinguished. He was MP for Gloucester, and 

Lord of the Manor of Cheltenham through his marriage to Elizabeth Lygon, to whom he 

dedicated a fine memorial brass in the church. It also shows their two daughters and nine sons, 

two of whom emigrated to help found the colony of Virginia.  
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Leckhampton Court as it was in 1793 (Samuel Lysonsôs Collection of Gloucestershire Antiquities)  

and 1863 (Normanôs History of Cheltenham). 

 

 Williamôs grandson, the swashbuckling royalist Colonel Henry, mentioned in Pepysôs Diaries, 

was imprisoned by Cromwell and then exiled to the colonies. After the restoration of the 

monarchy he was Acting Governor of Dunkirk when the English garrison was forced to evacuate 

the town in 1661. He was appointed Treasurer of Virginia and brought to King Charles II the 

news of the surrender by the Dutch of New Amsterdam (now New York). Back in England, he 

became Mayor of Gloucester and its MP. Before his death in 1689, he gave money for five bells 

in Leckhampton Church, cast by Abram Rudhall of Gloucester. There are many distinguished 

descendants of the Norwoods living today in the USA, several of whom have made a 

ópilgrimageô back to Leckhampton. 

 At the end of the 18th century the estate passed by marriage to Charles Brandon Trye FRS. He 

was Senior Surgeon at Gloucester Infirmary and encouraged his friend Edward Jenner in his 

vaccination experiments. He also appreciated the commercial benefits of the stone quarries on his 

estate. The quarries were served by what were probably the first railways in Gloucestershire. One 

of the upper tracks passed between the escarpment and the óDevilôs Chimneyô - a pillar of harder 

rock, left by quarrymen and later strengthened; little did they know that it was to become one of 

Cheltenhamôs distinctive emblems! (The Local History Society has also come to use it as its 

ótrade-markô.) 

 This horse-drawn railway followed a route along what is now Daisybank Road. It is still 

possible to trace its continuation as it curves down behind Hill House and the Scout Hut and the 

cluster of light industrial buildings that occupy the site of a former stone-yard and stables (and 

where the Cheltenham Caravan Companyôs factory flourished until after the Second World War). 

Among the undergrowth there remain a few sleepers, which supported short lengths of cast-iron 

rail. By 1811 the railway was linked up to the line which carried freight between Cheltenham and 
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Gloucester docks. (This line is not to be confused with the passenger trams which ran to the foot 

of Leckhampton Hill during the early 20th century.) 

 The Trye familyôs fortunes relied heavily on income from the quarries. The demand for stone 

declined in the 1880s, and in 1894 it was decided to sell off the estate by auction. This was 

effectively the end of the old order for Leckhampton, whose status was in any case being eroded: 

in the previous year a large area in the north-east of the parish had been incorporated into 

Cheltenham Borough. 

 The hill and quarries were bought by Henry J Dale (of Dale, Forty the music dealer) and the 

Court estate was bought by the agents for Captain Bennett, who soon after sold it on to John 

Hargreaves, a descendant of the inventor of the Spinning Jenny. John Hargreaves built the north 

wing extension to the Court (see also óLeckhampton Mysteriesô on page 49).  

 John Hargreavesôs daughter Muriel married Captain Cecil Elwes in 1901. The whole village 

was involved, and the occasion offered an opportunity for generous hospitality. The Revd 

Clifford Aston performed the wedding ceremony at the Guards Chapel at Wellington Barracks, 

and the villagers contributed to a wedding present. To mark their homecoming from honeymoon, 

the couple treated 300 of the older inhabitants of the village to a dinner in the school, followed by 

dancing in the Parish Hall - one of many gestures of hospitality towards the village. The óhorseôs 

graveô in a field above the Court is a memorial to Cecil (now promoted to Colonel) Elwesôs 

favourite hunter óThe Continentalô, which died in 1902. 

 During the 20th century the Court has fulfilled a variety of rôles. In the First World War it 

housed a Red Cross Hospital with 100 beds for wounded soldiers. In the Second World War 

barrack huts were built in its grounds (and the foundations of some of them can still be made 

out). These were occupied at first by British troops and later by the US, prior to the D-Day 

landings. After the end of war in Europe, German Prisoners-of-War were billeted there, the last of 

them not leaving until 1948. They mostly worked on farms in the area but lived under a fairly 

relaxed régime and enjoyed hospitality from local families. Several inmates married local girls, 

some deciding to live in the area, and to this day a few even return from Germany to revisit the 

site.  

 After Mrs Elwesôs death in 1956 the Court was bought by Dr Paul Saunders, who ran a 

preparatory school there until 1969. The buildingôs present incarnation as a Sue Ryder Palliative 

Care Home has given it a fresh lease of life and a very special place in the community. 

 The upper lodge to Leckhampton Court - Tower Lodge - was at one time an ale-house for the 

quarry workers and then a private house. In 1938 it was linked with a notorious unsolved crime. 

Coincinding with the suicide of the occupant of the lodge, a headless torso was discovered at 

Haw Bridge on the river Severn. The body was believed to be that of one Captain Butt, whose 

bloodstained coat was found by police under floorboards at the lodge. All this provoked much 

local gossip and speculation, but in the absence of conclusive evidence no official cause of death 

could be established nor any culprit be named. 

 The fortunes of St Peterôs church and its incumbents are closely linked to the Court. The lords 

of the manor were patrons until 1903; later that rôle was assumed by the Bishop of Gloucester. 

No religious house is mentioned in the Domesday Survey, but in 1133 Henry I endowed the 

Canons of Cirencester Abbey with the church at Cheltenham and its attached chapels. One of 

these must have been at Leckhampton, for in 1162 its priest, Henry by name, was summoned 

before Archbishop Thomas-à-Beckett in a dispute over payment of dues to the Canons of 

Cirencester. Henry was found liable and fined two shillings. 

 Sir John Giffard is considered responsible for the original building of the church: roughly what 

is now the nave, south aisle and sanctuary and the tall slender óbroachô spire, which is still a 

conspicuous landmark in local stone. It stands on the site of an earlier chapel probably used by 
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Henry, of which a few traces survive, including the font. This little church remained unchanged 

until 1834, when a gallery was erected over the south aisle and a vestry was added. Thirty years 

later, Leckhamptonôs population had grown to such an extent that the architect John Middleton 

was invited to draw up plans to enlarge the church. The gallery was taken down, a north aisle was 

added, the porch was resited and the whole building was extended 23 feet to the west.  

 

 

St Peterôs Church, as built by Sir John Giffard 

from a lithograph by George Rowe, c. 1840 
 

 To Henry Norwoodôs five bells a further three have been added, and Leckhampton now 

possesses a well-tuned ring of 20th-century bells. Among the other items of interest in the church 

- apart from the already mentioned Norwood brass and the Giffard effigies - is the pulpit. This is 

reputed to have been made out of oak taken from a tree grown in a nearby field. It was designed 

by L W Barnard, the son of the historian R C Barnard. L W Barnard also designed the war 

memorial, which was erected on the site of the former village draw well. 

 The earliest surviving parish records date from the late 17th century and are kept in the 

Gloucester Record Office. They list numerous burials in woollen shrouds. Another unusual 

feature is a list of ócompositionsô, or special collections for good causes elsewhere, for example 

in 1666 ófor late sad fire in the City of Londonô. The churchwardensô accounts for 1826 record 

the purchase of lime trees at a cost of 6 shillings. Six of these venerable trees are still standing in 

the avenue leading up to the church. 

 In the churchyard the earliest identified burial dates from 1670, and the oldest person to be 

interred was Richard Purser, who died in 1868, aged 111. There are also graves of numerous 


